# European Integration Consortium IAB, CMR, fRDB, GEP, WIFO, wiiw

Labour mobility within the EU in the context of enlargement and the functioning of the transitional arrangements

## VC/2007/0293

Deliverable 1

## Literature review

Tito Boeri, Herbert Brücker, Anna Iara, Peter Huber, Pavel Kaczmarczyk, Richard Upward and Hermine Vidovic

## **Abstract**

This literature review is part of the study "Labour mobility within the EU in the context of enlargement and the functioning of transitional arrangements" (VC/2007/0293). The purpose of this very brief review is to prove an overview on the literature relevant to this study. More detailed discussions of the literature will be included in the background reports to the individual deliverables. This review has two sections. In the first section we consider the determinants and forecasts of migration following the recent EU enlargement and associated transition arrangements. In the second section we consider the literature on the impacts of increased migration as a result of enlargement and the transition arrangements. These impacts include the aggregate effects on wages and employment, but also issues such as: the "brain drain", the regional concentration of migrants, the effect on the welfare state and social cohesion and, finally, the impact of remittances from migrants to their home countries.

The views and opinions expressed in this publication are those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of the European Commission.

## **Contents**

1	Determinants and forecasts of migration	. 1
	1.1 Surveys of migration intentions	
	1.2 Extrapolation studies	. 2
	1.3 Econometric models	. 3
2	The impacts of migration	. 5
	2.1 Impacts on wages, employment and the macro-economy	. 5
	2.2 Brain drain, brain gain and brain waste	. 6
	2.3 Regional impacts	. 7
	2.4 Public finances, the welfare state and social cohesion	
	2.5 Remittances	. 9
Refer	ences	11

## 1 Determinants and forecasts of migration

The substantial income gap between the incumbent EU member states and the accession candidates from Central and Eastern Europe has motivated numerous studies which attempt to forecast potential migration from the new Member States (NMS) prior to enlargement. These studies have estimated the long-run stock of residents from the NMS at between 3 and 5 per cent of the population in the origin countries, while annual net migration flows have been predicted to be between 300,000 and 400,000 persons in the first years following enlargement, which corresponds to 0.3-0.4 per cent of the population in the countries of origin.<sup>1</sup>

These migration forecasts rely on the assumption that all Member States of the EU-15 open their labour markets at the same time. However, the selective application of transitional arrangements has affected both the scale and the direction of migration from the NMS. Nevertheless, at an annual net migration flow of between 200,000 and 250,000 persons from the NMS-8 into the EU-15, the post-enlargement experience is not entirely inconsistent with most of the projections, although migration flows into Ireland and the UK have greatly exceeded the forecasts.

There are essentially three methods which have been used for forecasting the potential flows of migration from the NMS. The first derives medium- and long-term migration forecasts from surveys of migration intentions in the sending countries. The second extrapolates the South-North migration flows in Europe during the 1960s and early 1970s to future East-West migration. Finally, the third and largest part of the literature bases migration forecasts on econometric models, which explain migration stocks and flows by economic and institutional variables. In this section we briefly outline the results from these three methods.<sup>2</sup>

## 1.1 Surveys of migration intentions

A number of studies base forecasts of potential migration on surveys of migration intentions in the NMS (Fassmann/Hintermann 1997; Wallace, 1998; Krieger 2003; Fassmann and Münz, 2002; see also Fouarge and Ester, 2007). Krieger (2003) is based on the Eurobarometer Labour Mobility Survey, which covers all accession countries; the other studies are based on smaller surveys which focus only on a limited number of countries.

Studies of migration intentions suffer from a number of problems. First, and most importantly, it is unclear whether or when the expressed migration intention will be realised, and if so, how long an individual will actually stay abroad. Second, the migration intentions revealed differ a lot depending on the questionnaire and other aspects of the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> See e.g. Alvarez-Plata *et al.*, 2003; Boeri/Brücker *et al.*, 2001; Bruder, 2003; Hille/Straubhaar, 2001; Krieger, 2003; Layard *et al.*, 1992; Zaiceva, 2006). Some studies have obtained however lower (Fertig, 2001; Fertig/Schmidt, 2001; Dustmann *et al.*, 2003; Pytlikova, 2007) and higher projections (Flaig 2001; Sinn *et al.*, 2001).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> For previous literature reviews see Brücker/Siliverstovs, 2006a, 2006b; Fassmann/Münz, 2002; Hönekopp, 2001; Straubhaar, 2002; Zaiceva/Zimmermann, 2007.

survey design. Third, it is unclear whether migration intentions refer to a situation without legal barriers to migration or whether migration intentions reflect institutional barriers and are therefore a biased measure for migration under the conditions of free movement. Many of these problems could be circumvented by panel studies which would allow one to show whether migration intentions are realised or not. Unfortunately, panel studies of migration intentions do not yet exist in the NMS.

However, surveys of migration intentions can provide valuable information which is not available from other studies. First, they deliver important insights on the human capital characteristics of potential migrants (see Fouarge and Ester, 2007; Krieger, 2003, for a detailed analysis). Second, the latest Eurobarometer survey provides information on the destination countries, which may help to analyse the spatial distribution of migrants from the NNS across the EU Member States.

## 1.2 Extrapolation studies

The extrapolation of South-North to East-West migration in Europe relies on the hypothesis that the economic and institutional conditions of "guestworker" migration in the 1960s and early 1970s resemble migration conditions in the enlarged EU of today. Under this assumption, about 3 per cent of the population from the NMS would move to the EU-15 within 15 years (Layard et al., 1992).

The income difference measured in purchasing power parities between the EU-15 and the NMS-8 is similar to that between the members of the European Economic Community (EEC) and their neighbours in Southern Europe during the 1960s. However, there are also important differences between the current enlargement and previous episodes. First, the present per capita GDP gap between the EU-15 and the NMS-8 at current exchange rates is substantially larger than that between the North and the South in Europe during the 1960s. Income differences at current exchange rates may affect migration decisions since a part of the income obtained in host countries can be consumed in the sending countries. Second, labour market conditions (such as unemployment rates) in the main destination countries in the EU-15 are generally less favourable today compared to those in Europe during the 1960s. Third, transport and communication costs are substantially lower today compared to the 1960s, which in turn reduces migration costs. Finally, the institutional and legal framework for migration was different during the guestworker recruitment period compared to the legal framework for the free movement of workers in the Community of today.

Thus, actual migration movements from the NMS into the EU-15 may deviate in one way or another from the South-North migration episode in the 1960s. Nevertheless, the extrapolation exercises provide a useful hint to the magnitudes involved given that the European continent faced a similar income gap in history.

## 1.3 Econometric models

The largest part of the migration forecasts rely on econometric models, which explain migration flows or stocks by economic and institutional variables. The key explanatory variables are in most models the wage and (un-)employment rates in the receiving and sending countries, the (lagged) migration stock, and a number of dummy variables, which capture institutional conditions in the destination and sending countries, particularly legal immigration barriers.

Although the theoretical foundations may differ, most macro migration models are remarkably similar regarding the variables they consider and with respect to their functional forms. One important difference in the literature is between stock and flow models, which need not however necessarily yield different estimates of the migration potential if properly applied. A second difference is the identifying restrictions which are imposed by different estimators. Both methodological arguments and tests of the forecasting performance suggest that standard fixed effects models outperform pooled OLS models as well as most sophisticated heterogeneous estimators.

Table 1 summarises the estimation results of different studies including their data source and methodological foundations. The estimation results for migration stocks and flows are expressed in per cent. This allows one to compare the findings, since the sample of sending countries differs across the studies.<sup>3</sup>

We can distinguish studies which refer to Germany, the UK and the total EU-15 as a destination, where the latter studies are based on estimates for a panel of destination and sending countries. The large number of studies in the literature which refer to Germany can be traced back to the fact that about 60 per cent of the immigrants from the NMS in the EU-15 resided in Germany before enlargement. Moreover, the German migration statistics provides detailed data on migration stocks and flows by country of origin which facilitates migration estimates compared to many other destinations in the EU-15. Many studies have therefore estimated the migration potential for Germany and than extrapolated the estimate to the EU-15 under the counter-factual assumption that all EU Member States will open their labour markets at the same time and that the regional distribution of migrants remains constant over time (Alvarez-Plata et al., 2003; Boeri/Brücker et al., 2001).

<sup>-</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Note that Table 1 is a selection of the literature. There exist numerous other studies which, by and large, resemble the findings represented in Table 1.

Table 1 Econometric forecasts of potential migration from the NMS

Table 1 Econometric forecasts of potential migration from the NMS									
Study	Database	Type of model	Estimator	Initial net inflow	Long-run stock				
Estimates of n	Estimates of potential immigration into Germany (extrapolations to EU-15 in parentheses)								
Alvarez-Plata et al. (2003)	Panel of migration stocks from 18 sending countries, 1967-2001	Dynamic stock model	Fixed effects	0.22% (EU-15: 0.33%)	2.33% (EU-15: 3.82%)				
Boeri/Brücker et al. (2001), Brücker (2001)	Panel of migration stocks from 18 sending countries, 1967-1998	Dynamic stock model	Fixed effects	0.22% (EU-15: 0.34%)	2.53% (EU-15: 3.89%)				
Dustmann et al. (2003)	Panel of migration flows from 18 sending countries, 1960-1994	Static flow model	GMM with individual effects	0.02% - 0.2%	-				
Fertig (2001)	Panel of migration flows from 17 sending countries, 1960-1997	Dynamic flow model	Fixed effects	0.07%	-				
Fertig/ Schmidt (2001)	Panel of migration flows from 17 sending countries, 1960-1997	Static error- components model	GMM	0.01% -0.06%	-				
Flaig (2001), Sinn et al. (2001)	Panel of migration stocks from 5 sending countries, 1974-1997	Dynamic stock model	Pooled OLS	0.64%	7.2%				
Estimates of p Dustmann et al. (2003)	Potential immigration in Panel of migration flows from 18 sending countries, 1960-1994	to the United Kingd Static flow model	om GMM with individual effects	0.004% - 0.01%	-				
Estimates of p Alvarez-Plata et al. (2003)	Potential immigration into Panel of labour migration stocks from 20 sending and 15 destination countries, 1993-2001	to the EU-15 Dynamic stock model	GMM- system estimator with individual effects	EU-15: 0.11% - 0.15% (labour force)	EU-15: 2.2% - 2.7% (labour force)				
Hille/ Straubhaar (2001), Straubhaar (2002)	Panel of migration flows from 3 sending and 8 destination countries, 1988-99	Static flow model (gravity equation)	Pooled OLS	EU-15: 0.27%	-				
Pytlikova (2007)	Panel of gross and net migration flows from 7 NMS into 15 EU/EEA countries, 1990-2000	Static and dynamic flow model	Fixed effects	EU/EEA-13: 0.04-0.08% (net), (gross inflows: 0.53-0.57)	EU/EEA-13: 1.5%-1.8%				
Zaiceva (2006)	Panel of migration flows from 3 sending and 15 receiving countries, 1986-1997.	Static flow model (gravity equation)	Fixed effects	EU-15: 0.23- 0.34%	EU-15: 3.5%-5.0%				

Altogether, the estimates of these studies are by and large consistent with the migration development from the NMS-8 since enlargement. The annual net inflow or growth in the stock of the foreign residents from the NMS-8 can be estimated at about 200,000 p.a. in 2004, and at about 250,000 p.a. in 2006 and 2007.<sup>4</sup> This corresponds to between 0.27 and 0.34 per cent of the population in the NMS-8.

The regional structure of migration across the EU, however, is very different from that before the EU enlargement as a result of the selective application of the transitional arrangements. Hence, those studies which have used the regional distribution of migrants before enlargement to extrapolate future estimates for a particular country tend to be less accurate. In particular, actual migration into the UK and Ireland has been much larger, while actual migration to Austria and Germany has been much lower than projected. Actual migration inflows into the UK have been 100,000–150,000 p.a. larger than the net flows predicted in the Dustmann et al. (2003) study for the UK (4,000–13,000). The flows to the Scandinavian countries have been at or below the predicted levels.

Future estimates of the migration potential from the NMS have to consider the third-country effects which arise because of the transitional arrangements, since migration restrictions in one country may affect the scale of migration in other countries. There exist meanwhile three annual observations since enlargement for migration from the NMS-8 into the EU-15 which can be exploited for an identification of the role of migration restrictions. However, counterfactual experience from migration under free movement is not available for the NMS-8 sample. A possible way to circumvent this problem is to use the migration data from other sending countries, which perhaps allows estimating 'normal' regional migration patterns based on gravity-type migration equations.

## 2 The impacts of migration

## 2.1 Impacts on wages, employment and the macro-economy

The analysis of the macroeconomic impact of migration is typically based on general equilibrium trade models. This type of macroeconomic modelling is very flexible and provides a comprehensive framework which facilitates the analysis of the interaction between trade, migration and capital movements and their subsequent labour market impacts.

The effect of migration on wages and unemployment depends largely on the skill composition of immigrants. Assuming that the low-skilled and high-skilled labour force in Austria would increase by respectively 10.5 and 2.1 per cent, Keuschnigg and Kohler (1999) estimate a 5% decrease in wages for low-skilled workers. Heijdra et al. (2002) estimate the effect of the migration from the NMS to Germany. They assume that migration from eastern European countries to Germany would rise from 550,000 in 2008

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> This estimate refers to the change in the number of foreign residents as reported by national statistical sources in the Member States of the EU-15 and, for those countries which do not report, by the Eurostat Labour Force Survey. The 2007 figures refer to summer 2007 and are very preliminary.

to 2.5 million in 2030, with 35% of the migrant population entering the labour market. 40% of the migrants are skilled and 60% unskilled. As a result, less skilled workers suffer from reduced wages and higher unemployment, while skilled labour benefits from migration through higher wages and lower unemployment. Brücker and Kohlhaas (2004) find that, depending on the assumptions on the qualifications of the migrant population, wages can decline by 0.5–0.6% for an immigration rate of 1% of the labour force, while the unemployment rate increases by 0.02–0.1 percentage points. Brücker (2007) demonstrates that if 4 % of the population from the NMS migrate into the EU-15, the main winners of migration are the migrants themselves, while blue-collar workers are negatively affected through higher unemployment in the destination countries.

However, these relatively modest negative effects of migration on wages and unemployment of the low-skilled are likely to be outweighed by positive and strong effects of a more liberalized goods market (e.g. Brown et al. 1995, Baldwin et al. 1997). This is why most models predict that Eastern enlargement results in lower aggregate unemployment and higher wages in both the EU-15 and the NMS. Among other things, a significant trade creation between the NMS and EU-15 is likely to affect negatively the economies of China, Japan, Korea and the NAFTA countries, but to have a positive impact on the economies of Russia and other members of the CIS (Ko 2006).

In all models, the EU enlargement leads to a higher level of GDP. In earlier studies, this effect was predicted to vary between 0.1% and 0.5% in the EU-15, and between 5% and 18% in the NMS. More recent studies, which take into account trade creation between the old and new member countries, estimate slightly larger effects on GDP of the EU-15. Boeri and Brücker (2005) estimate a 0.5% gain in income per capita if 3% of the population from the NMS migrate into the EU-15. However, these aggregate and per capita income gains may be reduced if rigidities in the labour market exist. Finally, analysing possible diversion effects due to transitional periods, Baas and Brücker (2008) conclude that the closure of labour markets in Germany has reduced the GDP effect there, while the opening-up of the UK has led to higher GDP in that country.

## 2.2 Brain drain, brain gain and brain waste

The mobility of high-skilled labour has become one of the most prominent issues in the recent migration debate. The stock of high-skilled immigrants living in OECD countries increased from 12.4 million in 1990 to 20.4 million in 2000, whereas the total number of working-aged immigrants increased from 42 million to 59 million over the same period (Docquier and Marfouk (2004)). There is a general agreement that there has been a significant outflow of the highly skilled from Central and Eastern Europe, particularly from the Baltic countries, Poland and countries of the Western Balkan (Inzelt 2003; Kaczmarczyk and Okólski 2005; Okólski 2006; Ribickis 2003).

From the theoretical point of view, the push-pull framework is commonly used to explain migration of the high-skilled. Factors contributing to the outflow of qualified individuals include: differences in wages, living standards, working conditions, chances for professional advancement and so on. In addition, the scale and structure of migration

flows is largely affected by immigration policies of receiving states which often target skilled (and young) people.

The consequences of the mobility of high-skilled labour are far more controversial. Traditionally, the economic approach analyzing the consequences of the "brain drain" is based on the assumption that a country's competitiveness and economic growth should be directly linked to the stock of human capital. Consequently, in a zero-sum game, sending countries are assumed to be losers and receiving countries winners from skilled migration. (Grubel and Scott 1969, Berry and Soligo 1969, Bhagwati and Dellafar 1973, Bhagwati 1976, 1979).

Recent theoretical and empirical contributions have emphasized more positive or "brain gain" effects of high-skilled migration on sending countries. First, the outflow of high-skilled labour may have a positive impact on human capital formation by creating incentives to invest in education and influencing propensity to acquire higher skills (e.g. Stark 2004, 2005, Mountford 1997, Beine, Docquier and Rapoport 2001). Second, remittances sent by migrants significantly reduce poverty rates in the countries of origin. Third, migrants who accumulated human and financial capital abroad contribute to higher productivity at home upon their return (Klagge et al. 2007). Fourth, a skilled diaspora can facilitate technology transfer and bridge information gaps between potential exporters, importers and investors at home and host countries (Docquier et al 2007). Finally, Beine, Docquier and Rapoport (2003) show that the mobility of high-skilled labour can reduce the level of discrimination and corruption in sending countries.

Another important phenomenon related to the migration of high-skilled labour is occupational over-qualification, or the "brain waste". In practically all OECD countries immigrants are more likely to be overqualified than the native born (OECD 2006). This "brain waste" is usually attributable to unobserved differences in the value of education, problems with the recognition of qualifications acquired in the home country, a lack of human and social capital specific to the host country (such as language proficiency), the local labour market situation or, finally, various forms of discrimination. Women, recent immigrants, and migrants from outside the OECD are typically found to have a higher probability of being over-qualified. The problem of "brain waste" might also be relevant for the post-enlargement migrants. While 80-90% of migrants from the NMS-8 countries are hired for occupations that need no professional qualifications (WRS data), national sources suggest that, among Polish migrants in the UK, the share holding a university degree exceeds 25-30%. Nevertheless, relatively high rates of emigration of the skilled in Poland and other NMS countries might also be a consequence of the over-supply of qualified individuals and inefficient use of human capital resources at home countries.

## 2.3 Regional impacts

## Migrate or commute?

The choice between migration or cross-border commuting has recently been examined by a number of authors (Zax, 1994, Rouwendal, 1998, Van Ommeren, Rietveld and

Nijkamp, 2000). Such research has concluded that commuting may be of sufficient importance that cross-border labour markets may be emerging (Overman and Puga, 2000), with regional linkages in unemployment rates being equally strong across national borders as within countries. This has led policy makers to argue that cross-border commuting flows should be considered in addition to migration when considering the potential derogation periods following the EU enlargement in 2004 (see Huber 2001, Untiedt and Alecke 2001).

## What affects the region of migration?

A robust stylised fact from the empirical literature is that migrants are highly regionally concentrated. Bartel (1989) shows that close to 75% of migrants live in the 25 largest SMAS of the United States, although only 50% of the native population resides in these regions. Similar concentrations occur in other countries (e.g. Huber (2002) for Austria; Chiswick, Lee and Miller (2002) for Australia; Edin, Fredrikson and Aslund (2001) for Sweden; Hou (2005) for Canada).

There are a variety of alternative explanations for such regional concentrations. Firstly, network effects, whereby migrants take advantages of positive externalities in consumption and information arising from living in proximity to each other (Winters, de Janvry and Sadoulet 2001, Bauer, Epstein and Gang, 2002a). Secondly, herd effects, whereby informational advantages in the home country lead to the spatial clustering (see Epstein, 2002, Bauer Epstein and Gang, 2002b). Finally, welfare magnet effects, where migrants gravitate to regions in which the welfare system is most generous (see Borjas, 1999, Levine and Zimmermann, 1995).

## 2.4 Public finances, the welfare state and social cohesion

Studies of the US suggest that the participation of immigrants in welfare programs has increased in the last thirty years such that immigrants now have a higher probability of receiving public assistance than U.S. natives. When considering non-cash benefits, the difference is even larger. The reasons behind this growth are still debated but appear to include changes in the demographic characteristics of immigrants, quicker assimilation of the immigrants to the welfare system (Borjas and Trejo, 1991; Borjas and Hilton, 1996), and increases in the number of refugees who have a higher welfare dependency (Borjas 1995).

A number of studies have examined whether such an increase might also be due to a "welfare magnet" effect, whereby immigrants are attracted by generous welfare benefits. For the US, Blank (1988), Borjas (1999), Gramlich et al. (1984), Meyer (2000), McKinnish (2005), and Gelbach (2004) find a significant impact of the generosity of welfare provision on the location decision of migrants.

The welfare magnet literature is less developed in Europe. Hansen and Lofstrom (1999, 2001, 2003), suggest that immigrants are more likely to receive both unemployment benefits and social assistance than natives, although this is largely due to differences in

the characteristics of migrants vis a vis natives. Such results have been replicated in studies for Germany, where foreigners are less likely to depend on welfare than natives once observable characteristics are controlled for (Bird et al. 1999; Fertig and Schmidt, 2001; Frick et al. 1996; Riphahn, 1998; Sinn et al., 2001) and Denmark (Riphahn and Rosholm, 2001).

The European studies have also found that, in contrast to evidence from the US (e.g. Borjas and Hilton, 1996), foreigners tend to assimilate out of welfare assistance. In Germany, welfare dependency declines with the duration of stay of migrant households, all other factors being equal (Fertig and Schmidt, 2001). Further, welfare usage of non-humanitarian migrants is well below that of humanitarian migrants and non-humanitarian migrants tend to assimilate even more rapidly out of welfare (Hansen and Lofstrom, 1999).

## 2.5 Remittances

Migrant remittances are income earned in a host country that is sent or brought to the home country. These include: earnings paid to migrant employees who are not resident in the host country, such as border and seasonal workers; transfers abroad by resident workers; and cash and goods transferred by re-migrating individuals.<sup>5</sup>

The motives for remittance payments may be manifold; first, individuals may seek to support family consumption with their income from abroad; second, migrants may seek to accumulate savings that will be invested at home; third, remittances may protect against negative income shocks to the family in the home country. For bilateral flows from the EU to neighbouring countries, Schiopu and Siegfried (2006) present evidence in support of the consumption rather than the investment motive. They also show that remittances are increasing with the skill level of the remitters. Other authors have shown a role for unemployment in the home country (Dragutinovic Mitrovic and Jovicic (2006) and Schrooten (2005)). Schrooten (2005) also suggests that remittances diminish with increasing economic development, economic openness and the development of the banking sector in the home country.

## **Effects of remittances**

Although remittances serve to boost the household income of the recipients, and may provide a means out of poverty, remittances may have a negative impact on economic activity in the home country if they result in the reduction of labour supply.<sup>6</sup> Large remittance inflows may also result in the appreciation of the real exchange rate, comparable to the Dutch disease effect, and therefore diminish the competitiveness of

<sup>5</sup> Recently, a number of reviews of the existing findings on remittances were produced (Ghosh, 2006, Mansoor and Quillin, 2006, OECD, 2006, Page and Plaza, 2006, Ratha and Shaw, 2006). Below, we will focus on the experience of central and eastern Europe and the western Balkans and most recent findings for other European economies.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> See Adams and Page (2003) on the poverty-alleviating effect of remittances and Chami et al. (2003) on the possible negative effect on labour supply.

the home country (Mansoor and Quillin, 2006). Dragutinovic Mitrovic and Jovicic (2006) also raise the prospect that countries may become dependent on remittances to finance trade deficits.

The empirical evidence using macroeconomic datasets is controversial. Although Chami et al. (2003) suggest a negative impact of remittances on economic growth, Mansoor and Quillin (2006) and Catrinescu et al. (2006) find that both the short- and the long-run impact of remittances on economic growth appears to be small but positive.

## References

- Adams, Richard, and John Page, 2003, "International migration, remittances and poverty in developing countries", World Bank Policy Research working paper no. 3179.
- Alvarez-Plata, P., Brücker, H. and Siliverstovs, B. (2003), *Potential Migration from Central and Eastern Europe into the EU-15 An Update*, Report for the European Commission, DG Employment, Social Affairs and Equal Opportunities, Brussels.
- Baas, T. and Brücker, H. (2008) "Macroeconomic Impact of Eastern Enlargement on Germany and UK: Evidence from a CGE Model." *Applied Economics Letters, forthcoming*.
- Baldwin, R. Francois, J. and Portes, R. (1997) "The Costs and Benefits of Eastern Enlargement: The Impact on the EU and Central Europe" *Economic Policy: A European Forum*, 12(24), pp. 125-70.
- Bartel Ann B (1989) Where Do New US Migrants Live? Journal of Labour Economics, Vol. 7, No. 4, pp 371 391.
- Bauer, Thomas, Gil S. Epstein and Ira N. Gang (2002a) What are migration Networks, IZA Discussion Paper 200, Bonn
- Bauer, Thomas, Gil S. Epstein and Ira N. Gang (2002b) Herd effects or Migration Networks? The location Choice of Mexican Immigrants in the US, IZA Discussion Paper 551
- Beine, M.; F. Docquier and H. Rapoport (2001) "Brain drain and economic growth: theory and evidence" *Journal of Development Economics*, Volume 64, 1, pp 275-289
- Beine, M., F. Docquier and H. Rapoport (2003): Brain drain and growth in LDCs: winners and losers, IZA DP no. 819.
- Berry, R. A. and Soligo, R. (1969), *Some welfare effects of international migration*Journal of Political Economy, 77, 778-794
- Bhagwati, J. (1979) International Migration of Highly skilled: economics, Ethics and Taxes, Third Word Quarterly 1 (3), 17-30.
- Bhagwati, J. (ed.), 1976, The Brain Drain and Taxation II: Theory and empirical analysis. Amsterdam: North Holland.
- Bhagwati, J. N. and W. Dellafar, (1973), The Brain Drain and Income taxation World Development, 1 94-100.
- Bird, E.J., H. Kayser and J.R. Frick, (1999), The Immigrant Welfare Effect, Take-up or Eligibility? IZA Discussion Paper 66, IZA, Bonn.
- Blank, R.M. (1988), "The Effect of Welfare and Wage Levels on the Location Decisions of Female-Headed Households." Journal of Urban Economics, 24(2), pp. 186-211.
- Boeri, T. and Brücker, H. (2005) "Why Are Europeans So Tough on Migrants?" *Economic Policy*, 44, pp. 629.
- Boeri, T., H. Brücker *et al.* (2001), *The Impact of Eastern Enlargement on Employment and Labour Markets in the EU Member States*, European Commission, Berlin/Brussels/Milano.
- Borjas, G. (1999), "Immigration and Welfare Magnets.", Journal of Labour Economics, 17(4), pp. 607-637.
- Borjas, G. J. (1995), Immigration and Welfare, Research in Labor Economics, 14, pp. 253-282.
- Borjas, G. J. and S. J. Trejo, (1991), Immigrant Participation in the Welfare System, Industrial and Labor Relations Review, 44, pp. 195-211.

- Borjas, G. J., and L. Hilton, (1996), Immigration and the Welfare State: Immigrant Participation in Means-Tested Entitlement Programs, Quarterly Journal of Economics, 111(2), pp. 575-604.
- Brown, Drusilla, K.; Deardorff, Alan, V.; Djankov, Simeon and Stern, R. (1995) "An Economic Assessment of the Integration of Czechoslovakia, Hungary and Poland into the European Union," American Institute for Contemporary German Studies.
- Brücker, H. (2001), "Die Folgen der Freizügigkeit für die Ost-West-Migration. Schlussfolgerungen aus einer Zeitreihenanalyse der Migration nach Deutschland", Konjunkturpolitik- Applied Economics Quarterly, Supplement 52, 2001, pp. 17-54.
- Brücker, H. (2007) "Labor Mobility after the European Union's Eastern Enlargement: Who Wins, Who Loses?" *GMF Paper Series*.
- Brücker, H. and Kohlhaas, M. (2004) "Migration, Qualification and Labor Markets," mimeo. Berlin: German Institute for Economic Research (DIW Berlin).
- Brücker, H. and Siliverstovs, B. (2006b), "On the Estimation and Forecasting of International Migration: How Relevant Is Heterogeneity Across Countries?", *Empirical Economics*.
- Brücker, H., and Siliverstovs, B. (2006a), "Estimating and forecasting European migration: methods, problems and results", *Zeitschrift für Arbeitsmarktforschung Journal for Labour Market Research*, 39(1), 35-53.
- Bruder, J. (2003), East-West Migration 2004-2015, Thünen Series of Applied Economics Working Papers 40, University of Rostock.
- Catrinescu, Natalia, Miguel León-Ledesma, Matloob Piracha, and Bryce Quillin, 2006, "Remittances, institutions and economic growth", IZA discussion paper no. 2139.
- Chami, Ralph, Connell Fullenkamp, and Samir Jahjah, 2003, "Are immigrant remittance flows a source of capital for development?", IMF working paper no. 03/189.
- Chiswick, Barry R., Yew Liang Lee and Paul W. Miller (2002) The determination of the Geographic Concentration among Immigrants: Application to Australia, IZA-Discussion Paper No. 462,
- Docquier, F. and Marfouk, A. (2004): Measuring the international mobility of skilled workers Release 1.0, Policy Research Working Paper n. 3382, World Bank.
- Docquier, F., O. Lohest, and A. Marfouk (2007): "Brain drain in developing countries" World Bank Economic Review 21: 193 218.
- Dragutinovic Mitrovic, R., and Jovicic, M. (2006), "Macroeconomic analysis of causes and effects of remittances: a panel model of the SEE countries and a case study of Serbia, GDN Southeast Europe working paper.
- Dustmann, C., Casanova, M, Fertig, M, Preston, I and Schmidt, C. (2003), *The impact of EU enlargement on migration flows*, Home Office Online Report 25/03.
- Edin, Per-Anders, Peter Fredrikson and Olof Alsund (2001) Ethnic Enclaves and the Economic Success of Immigrants Evidence from a natural Experiment, CEPR Discussion Paper No 2370
- Epstein, Gil S (2002) Informational Cascades and Decision to Migrate, IZA Working Paper 445.
- Fassmann, R., and Hintermann, C. (1997), "Migrationspotential Ostmitteleuropa. Struktur und Motivation potentieller Migranten aus Polen, der Slowakei, Tschechien und Ungarn", ISR-Scientific Report 15, Innsbruck.
- Fassmann, R., and Münz, R. (2002), EU-Enlargement and the future of East-West migration, in: IOM (ed.), New challenges for migration policy in Central and Eastern Europe, Geneva, IOM.
- Fertig, M. (2001), The Economic Impact of EU Enlargement: Assessing the Migration Potential, *Empirical Economics*, pp. 707-720.

- Fertig, M. and Schmidt, C. M., (2001), "First- and Second-Generation Migrants in Germany What Do We Know and What Do People Think", in Rotte R. (ed.) Migration Policy and the Economy- International Experience, mimeo.
- Fertig, M., and Schmidt, C. (2001), Aggregate Level Migration Studies as a Tool for Forecasting Migration Streams, IZA Discussion Paper 183.
- Flaig, G. (2001), Die Abschätzung der Migrationspotenziale der osteuropäischen EU-Beitrittsländer. In: *Konjunkturpolitik – Applied Economics Quarterly*, Supplement 52m pp. 55-76.
- Fouarge, D., and Ester, P. (2007), Mapping migration intentions in Europe: Perceived costs and benefits, Institute for Labour Studies, Tilburg University.
- Frick, J., F. Büchel and W. Voges, (1996), Sozialhilfe als Integrationshilfe für Zuwanderer in Deutschland, DIW-Wochenbericht, 63 (48), 767-775.
- Gelbach, J.B. (2004), "Migration, the Life Cycle, and State Benefits: How Low Is the
- Ghosh, Bimal, 2006, Migrants' remittances and development: myths, rhetoric and realities, Geneva: International Organization for Migration.
- Gramlich, E.M. and Laren D.S. (1984), "Migration and Income Redistribution Responsibilities." Journal of Human Resources, 19(4), pp. 489-511.
- Grubel, H G and Scott, A. (1976), "The immigration of scientists and engineers to the United States, 1949-61", *Journal of Political Economy*, 74, 368-378.
- Hansen, J. and Lofstrom, M. (2001), "The dynamics of immigrant welfare and labor market behaviour", IZA (Institute for the Study of Labor) Discussion Paper No. 360, September.
- Hansen, J. and Lofstrom, M. (2003), "Immigrant assimilation and welfare participation: do immigrants assimilate into or out of welfare?", Journal of Human Resources, 38 (1), Winter, pp. 74-98.
- Hansen, J. and M. Lofstrom, (1999), Immigration and Welfare Participation: Do Immigrants Assimilate Into or Out-of Welfare? IZA Discussion Paper 100, IZA, Bonn.
- Heijdra, B. Keuschnigg, C. and Kohler, W. (2002) "Eastern Enlargement of the EU: Jobs, Investment and Welfare in Present Member Countries," CESifo GmbH, CESifo Working Paper Series: CESifo Working Paper No. 718.
- Hille, H. and Straubhaar, T. (2001), "The Impact of EU-Enlargement on Migration Movements and Economic Integration: Results of Recent Studies", in: OECD (ed.), *Migration Policies and EU-Enlargement*, Paris, pp. 79-100.
- Hönekopp, E. (2001): "Überblick über die Ergebnisse bisher vorliegender Schätzungen zum Migrationspotential im Falle einer Arbeitskräftefreizügigkeit im Rahmen der Osterweiterung der EU", Vortrag auf der Fachkonferenz "Mehr Konkurrenz um Lohn und Arbeit? Auswirkungen der Osterweiterung der EU auf die Arbeitsmärkte Optionen für die Politik", Akademie für Politische Bildung Tutzing, Tutzing, 14.-16.5.
- Hou, Feng (2005) The Initial Destinations and Redistribution of Canada's Major Immigrant Groups: Changes over the Past Two Decades, Manuscript, Statistics Canada
- Huber, Peter (2001) Auswirkungen der EU Erweiterung auf die Erwerbstätigkeit (Migration, Pendelwanderung), Perparity Project report, WIFO, Vienna
- Huber, Peter (2002) Migration and Regions The case of Austria, in Ralph Rotte Migration Policy and the Economy: International Experiences, ars et unitas, Neuried, pp157 178.
- Inzelt, A. (2003). Hungary, in: Brain-drain emigration flows for qualified scientists part 5. Flows and non-EU Europe, University of Maastricht: MERIT.

- Kaczmarczyk P., and Okólski M. (2005). Migracje specjalistow wysokiej klasy w kontekscie czlonkostwa Polski w Unii Europejskiej [Migration of the highly skilled in the context of Poland's accession to EU], UKIE, Warsaw.
- Keuschnigg, C. and Kohler, W. (1999) "Eastern Enlargement to the EU: Economic Costs and Benefits for the EU Present Member States? The Case of Austria. Study for the European Commission. Final Report", Linz: Johannes Kepler Universität, Linz.
- Klagge, B. et al. (2007). High-skilled return migration and knowledge-based economic development in regional perspective. Conceptual considerations and the example of Poland, CMR Working Paper 19/77.
- Ko, Jong-Hwan (2006) "Eastern Enlargement of the EU and Its Economic Impact: A CGE Approach." The Kyoto Economic Review, 75(1), pp. 91-113.
- Krieger, T. (2003), Migration trends in an enlarged EU, European Foundation for the Improvement of Working and Living Conditions, Dublin.
- Layard, R., Blanchard, O., Dornbusch, R. and Krugman, P. (1992): *East-West Migration: The Alternatives*. Boston: MIT Press.
- Levine, Phillip B. and David J. Zimmermann (1995) An empirical Analysis of the Welfare magnet Debate using the NLSY. NBER Working Paper 5264
- Mansoor, Ali, and Bryce Quillin (ed.), 2006, Migration and remittances: eastern Europe and the former Soviet Union, Washington: The World Bank.
- McKinnish, T. (2005), "Importing the Poor: Welfare Magnetism and Cross-Border Migration.", Journal of Human Resources, 40(1), pp. 57-76.
- Meyer, B.D. (2000), "Do the Poor Move to Receive Higher Welfare Benefits?", Working paper no. 58. Northwestern University, Joint Center for Poverty Research Working Paper.
- Mountford, A. (1997) Can a brain drain be good for growth in the source economy? Journal of Development Economics, Volume 53, 2, pp. 287-303
- OECD (2006). International Migration Outlook 2006. OECD:Paris.
- Okólski M. (2006). Costs and benefits of migration for Central European countries, CMR Working Paper 7(65).
- Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD), 2006, International migrant remittances and their role in development, in: ibid., International Migration Outlook 2006, p. 139-161.
- Overman, Henry G; and Diego Puga, (2002) Unemployment Clusters across Europe's Regions and Countries, Economic Policy: A European Forum, no. 34, pp. 115-43
- Page, John, and Sonia Plaza, 2006, "Migration remittances and development: a review of global evidence", Journal of African Economies 15, supplement 2, p. 245-336.
- Pytlikova, M. (2007), EU Enlargement: Migration from the New Member States, Mimeo, Aarhus School of Business, CIM and Department of Economics.
- Ratha, Dilip and William Shaw, 2006, Global economic prospects: economic implications of remittances and migration, Washington: The World Bank.
- Ribickis, L. (2003). Lithuania, in: Brain-drain emigration flows for qualified scientists part 5. Flows and non-EU Europe, University of Maastricht: MERIT.
- Riphahn R. T. and Rosholm, M. (2001), "Immigrants' Time to Economic Independence: The Duration of Initial Public Transfer Reliance,", mimeo.
- Rouwendal, Jan (1998) Search Theory, Spatial Labor Markets, and Commuting, Journal of Urban Economics, 43:1, 1-22
- Schiopu, Ioana, and Nikolaus Siegfried, 2006, "Determinants of workers' remittances: evidence from the European neighbouring region", ECB working paper no. 688.

- Schrooten, Mechthild, 2005, "Bringing home the money what determines workers' remittances to transition countries?", working paper, mimeo.
- Sinn, H.-W., Flaig, G., Werding, M., Münz, S., Düll, N.and Hoffmann, H. (2001), *EU-Erweiterung und Arbeitskräftemigration. Wege zu einer schrittweisen Annäherung der Arbeitsmärkte*, Munich: Ifo-Institut für Wirtschaftsforschung.
- Stark O. (2005). "The new economics of the brain drain", World Economics, 2.
- Stark, O (2004) Rethinking the Brain Drain. World Development, Volume 32, 1, Pages 15-22
- Straubhaar, T. (2002), Ost-West Migrationspotenzial: Wir groß ist es?, *Jahrbücher für Nationalökonomie und Statistik*, Vol. 222, pp. 20-41.
- Untiedt, Gerhard and Björn Alecke (2001) Pendlerpotential in den Grenzregionen an der EU-Außengrenze. Methoden, Ergebnisse und Prognosen, Preparity Project Report, Vienna, 2001.
- Van Ommeren, Jos; Rietveld, Piet; Nijkamp, Peter (2000) Job Mobility, Residential Mobility and Commuting: A Theoretical Analysis Using Search Theory, Annals of Regional Science, 34: 2, 213-32
- Wallace, C. (1998), "Migration Potential in Central and Eastern Europe", IOM Cooperation Centre for Europe and Central Asia, Geneva.
- Winters, Paul; de Janvry, Alain; Sadoulet, Elisabeth (2001) Family and Community Networks in Mexico-U.S. Migration Journal of Human Resources, vol. 36, no. 1, , pp. 159-84
- Zaiceva, A. (2006), "Reconciling the Estimates of Potential Migration into the Enlarged European Union", IZA Discussion Paper 2519.
- Zaiceva, A., and Zimmermann, K. (2007), "Migration Potential and its Labor Market Impact after EU Enlargement", Paper presented at the Second IZA Workshop: EU Enlargement and the Labor Market, September.
- Zax, Jeffrey S (1994) When Is a Move a Migration? Regional Science and Urban Economics, 24:3, 341-60